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I. STATEMENT

1. This is a civil penalty assessment proceeding brought by the Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) against the Daniel Kinney, doing business as Ambassador Tours (Respondent or Ambassador Tours).

2. On August 28, 2006, Staff mailed Civil Penalty Assessment Notice or Notice of Complaint to Appear (CPAN) No. 80395 to Respondent.  Exhibit 1.  Respondent's place of business is located in Woody Creek, Colorado, which is in Pitkin County, Colorado.  The CPAN alleges that the asserted violations occurred in Pitkin County.  The CPAN commenced this docket. 

3. In CPAN No. 80395, Staff alleges three violations of Rule 6102 of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6, by violating incorporated Rules 49 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) § 391.21(a), 49 C.F.R. § 391.25(a), and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45(a) (Exhibit 1, Counts 1 through 3 respectively).  Staff further alleges that the violations occurred on July 19, 2006 when Respondent failed to require a driver to produce an employment application, failed to obtain a copy of a driver’s driving record in the previous 12 months, and used a driver not medically examined and certified.  CPAN No. 80395 seeks imposition of a civil penalty in the total amount of $2,700.00 for these alleged violations.  See, Exhibit 1.  

4. On August 30, 2006, the Commission issued an Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing setting a hearing in this matter.  By Decision Nos. R06-1142-I and R06-1169-I, the date and location for hearing was modified.  By Decision No. R06-1262-I, the hearing was finally set to be heard on October 31, 2006, at 1:00 p.m., in Denver, Colorado.  

5. At the assigned time and place, the undersigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) called the matter for hearing.  Staff appeared through Counsel and Respondent appeared pro se.  During the course of the hearing, Exhibits 1 through 6 and 8 through 12 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  Exhibit 7 was identified and offered into evidence, but was not admitted.  Mr. John P. Opeka, a Criminal Investigator with the Commission, testified in support of the allegations contained in CPAN No. 80395.  Mr. Kinney testified as Respondent.

6. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the undersigned now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

II. findings of fact

7. Respondent is an off-road scenic charter carrier with Commission Authority No. ORC-00162.  Accordingly, Respondent is subject to the Safety Rules in the Commission’s Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle.  Rule 6100(a), 4 CCR 723-6.  

8. On August 7, 2006, Mr. Opeka performed a Safety and Compliance Review of Ambassador Tours with Mr. Kinney.  During the course of such review, Mr. Opeka observed violations that were also noted during a previous compliance review that he performed on September 17, 2003. See Exhibit 5.  Further, he determined that Mr. Kinney provided off-road scenic charter service for hire on July 19, 2006.

9. Mr. Opeka prepared a Transportation Safety and Compliance Review Final Report, regarding the review conducted on August 7, 2006, that was provided to Mr. Kinney.  See Exhibit 3.  On August 14, 2006, the Commission received the Certification of Receipt for the Safety and Compliance Audit of Ambassador Tours conducted on August 7, 2006.  See Exhibit 4.

10. Mr. Opeka prepared CPAN No. 80395 and served it via Certified U.S. Mail.  Mr. Kinney received the mailing on August 28, 2006, and the return receipt was returned to the Commission on September 1, 2006.  Exhibit 2.  Counts 1, 2, and 3 of CPAN No. 80395 are also listed in the Final Report regarding the review of August 7, 2006 as Violation Nos. 2, 3, and 5.  See Exhibits 1 and 3.

11. Mr. Opeka previously performed a Safety and Compliance Review of Ambassador Tours with Mr. Kinney on September 17, 2003. He prepared a final report for the Transportation Safety and Compliance Review conducted on September 17, 2003.  See Exhibit 5.  This report was provided to Mr. Kinney.  See Exhibit 5.

12. Counts 1, 2, and 3 of CPAN No. 80395 are also listed in the final report regarding the review of September 17, 2003 as Violation Nos. 2, 5, and 8.  See Exhibits 1 and 5.

13. Mr. Opeka testified that in the course of every Safety and Compliance Review he conducts, the motor carrier is provided many opportunities to ask questions.  He tries to personally explain questions raised and violations found.  He leaves his business card with the carrier, which provides his telephone contact information (usually including a cellular telephone number).  He offers for motor carriers to contact him at any time if questions arise.  The Final Report for the review conducted in 2006 includes references to websites where governing rules may be reviewed.  Finally, reports of both reviews include contact information at the Commission for additional assistance or information.  Thus, Ambassador Tours was clearly on notice of applicable requirements before the same violations were found during the review conducted August 7, 2006 and cited in CPAN No. 80395.

14. A Certification of Correction was provided to Mr. Kinney with the final report regarding the September 17, 2003 compliance review.  He certified that the violations had been corrected as of October 22, 2003 and returned the signed certificate to the Commission.  See Exhibit 6.

15. Based upon the 2006 review, Mr. Opeka testified that Mr. Kinney failed to require that all drivers prepare an employment application.  Secondly, Mr. Kinney failed to obtain a motor vehicle record for every driver at least once every 12 months.  Finally, Mr. Kinney failed to produce documentation that every driver had a Department of Transportation medical examination and had been certified as medically fit to drive passengers for hire.

16. Mr. Kinney contends that he is innocent of the charges in CPAN No. 80395 because the Commission’s rules and regulations are too difficult to understand.  He believes it is impossible for him to comply with the rules.  A copy of the Rules, Regulations, and Civil Penalties Governing Common Carriers of Passengers by Motor Vehicle for-Hire, adopted February 12, 1996, effective March 30, 1996, was admitted as Exhibit 9.  He finds these rules to be confusing and convoluted.  He also argues that none of the cited violations appear in Exhibit 9.  In any event, he believes that Exhibit 9 contains the rules to which he understood his business was subject and that he operated in accordance with those rules. 

17. Because of the confusing and convoluted nature of the Commission’s rules, Mr. Kinney contends that he did not understand what actions were required to comply with the Commission’s rules and avoid the counts alleged in CPAN No. 80395.  

18. Mr. Kinney acknowledged receiving three additional packets of Commission rules in June 2006, but due to the busy summer season and his mother’s failing health, he was not familiar with those rules.  He was also called out of town from July 24, 2006 to August 4, 2006, to attend his mother’s funeral.  He is also active on the Board of Directors for the Woody Creek Homeowners Association.

19. Mr. Kinney admitted that it has probably been 12 years since his last DOT physical.

20. Mr. Kinney also suggests the purpose of civil penalties is to punish the person, but not put him out of business.  Although no documentary evidence was provided, he guesses that the proposed civil penalty may be twice the amount of his annual operating profit.

21. Evidence was also offered that Mr. Kinney attempted to cure the alleged violations.  Exhibit 10 is a copy of his Driver’s Application for Employment. Exhibit 11 is a copy of Mr. Kinney’s Motor Vehicle Record, dated August 18, 2006.  Exhibit 12 is a copy of an Attending Provider’s Statement for a “DOT” appointment.

22. Mr. Opeka refutes Mr. Kinney’s contention that the Commission’s rules are confusing and convoluted.  In his experience conducting Safety and Compliance Reviews, he has found that several one car, one operator, companies are able to comply with the Commission’s rules.

23. Mr. Opeka also clarified that Exhibit 9 does not reflect the operative rules applicable to Ambassador Tours. Ambassador Tours is subject to rules applicable to exempt carriers (including the Commission’s Safety Rules).  As an off-road charter carrier, Ambassador Tours is not a common carrier.    

III. discussion 

24. The violations charged by Staff in CPAN No. 80395 are the result of a safety and compliance review and inspection performed by Staff member John Opeka on August 7, 2006.  Based on his review, Mr. Opeka found that, for the date stated in the CPAN, Respondent did not have all the records that it was required to maintain and the company used a driver not medically examined and certified.  Mr. Opeka issued the instant CPAN citing resulting violations. See Exhibit 1.  

25. Ambassador Tours provides off-road scenic charter services pursuant to a registration with the Commission under Article 16 of Title 40, C.R.S.  It follows that the vehicle being operated by Mr. Kinney on July 19, 2006, was a motor-driven passenger vehicle, that he was required to have completed and furnished an employment application on or before that date, that a copy of his driving record should be on file, and that he was required to have been medically certified. 

26. Mr. Kinney did not dispute the alleged violations, did not offer testimony to refute Mr. Opeka’s testimony concerning the alleged violations, and did not offer testimony to rebut Mr. Opeka’s testimony concerning the alleged violations.  

27. Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.21(a) provides that a person shall not drive a commercial motor vehicle unless they have completed and furnished the motor carrier employing them with an application for employment that meets the requirements of subsection (b) of that regulation.  The evidence submitted in this matter establishes that, contrary to the requirement imposed by 49 C.F.R. § 391.21(a), Ambassador Tours failed to maintain a copy of Mr. Kinney’s employment application in his driver qualification file for the date in question.

28. Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.51(b) requires motor carriers to maintain driver qualification files that include, among other things, a copy of the response by each state agency to the inquiry required by Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.23(a)(1) for the driving records of its drivers.  This effectively requires carriers to secure copies of the driving records of its drivers and maintain such records in their driver qualification files.  The evidence submitted in this matter establishes that, contrary to the requirement imposed by 49 C.F.R. § 391.51(b), Ambassador Tours failed to maintain a copy of Mr. Kinney’s driving record in his driver qualification file for the date in question.

29. Subject to certain exceptions, Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.45 requires that individuals operating commercial motor vehicles be medically examined by a qualified medical examiner for the purpose of determining that they are physically qualified to operate such vehicles.  If the examiner determines that an individual is so qualified, he/she is required to issue a certificate to that effect.  See, Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.43(g).  Individuals are then required to carry the certificate on their person when operating commercial motor vehicles.  See, Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.41(a). The evidence submitted in this matter establishes that, contrary to the requirement imposed by 49 C.F.R. § 391.45, Ambassador Tours used a driver not medically examined and certified.

30. Every person who violates Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.21(a) may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $100.00 for each violation.  See, Rule 6102(k), 4 CCR 723-6.  Every person who violates Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.25(a) may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $100.00 for each violation.  See, Rule 6102(k), 4 CCR 723-6.  Every person who violates Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.45(a) may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $2,500.00 for each violation.  See, Rule 6102(k), 4 CCR 723-6.  

Staff bears the burden of proof in this case.  See Rule 1500, 4 CCR 723-1.  Staff has met that burden of proof with respect to the alleged violations.  

The ALJ finds and concludes that, as alleged in the CPAN, Respondent failed to maintain in its files the records required to be maintained by Rule 6102, 4 CCR 723-6 and, more specifically, by Rule 49 C.F.R. §§ 391.21(a) and 391.25(a).  Further, Respondent used a driver not medically examined and certified in violation of Rule 49 C.F.R. § 391.45.  The ALJ finds and concludes that Respondent violated Commission rules as alleged in CPAN No. 80395.  

Having found that Respondent violated the cited regulations, it is necessary to determine the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed for these violations.  In the CPAN, Staff seeks a civil penalty of $2,700.  

31. In accordance with Rule 1302(b): 

“The Commission may impose a civil penalty, where provided by law, after considering evidence concerning the following factors:

(I)
The nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

(II)
The degree of the respondent's culpability;

(III)
The respondent's history of prior offenses;

(IV)
The respondent's ability to pay;

(V)
 Any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

(VI)
The effect on the respondent's ability to continue in business;

(VII)
The size of the business of the respondent; and

(VIII)
Such other factors as equity and fairness may require.” 

Rule 1302(b) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1.

Based on the record in this case, the ALJ finds and concludes that $2,700 is the appropriate civil penalty amount to be assessed in this proceeding.  In making this determination, the ALJ began with the maximum civil penalty for these violations (i.e., $2,700); considered Commission guidance provided in previous civil penalty case decisions; considered the purposes of civil penalties; considered the factors in aggravation; considered the foregoing factors in mitigation; and considered the range of civil penalty assessments found to be reasonable in other civil penalty cases.  

32. As factors in aggravation, the ALJ considered that all three violations were repeat violations.  In September 2003, Staff performed a compliance review of Respondent and found violations of the same three regulations.  See Exhibits 1, 3, and 5.  Mr. Kinney certified that the violations had been corrected on October 22, 2003.  See Exhibit 6.  Not only did Respondent not implement sufficient (if any) internal procedures to assure that required records were maintained, but also there is no evidence that the violations were in fact cured prior to issuance of CPAN No. 80395 (i.e., there was still no employment application produced for Mr. Kinney).  The ALJ finds that, notwithstanding the 2003 violations, Respondent did not take effective corrective action to guard against future record-keeping violations.  

33. Mr. Kinney demonstrates a total lack of understanding of the responsibilities and obligations of a registrant to this Commission and the traveling public.  Mr. Kinney is required to comply with applicable Commission rules.  Despite having operated for at least three years before the hearing, Mr. Kinney appears not to understand the Commission’s Safety Rules.  Despite having been through a prior Transportation Safety and Compliance Review, having been referred to the Commission’s rules, and having been provided telephone contact information for Commission personnel, Mr. Kinney made no apparent efforts to understand or comply with the Commission’s rules before issuance of CPAN No. 80395.  If, in fact, he does not understand those rules, he is obliged to take steps to seek necessary advice and counsel and to comply.  The ALJ finds that Mr. Kinney failed to comply with Commission rules or to take reasonable steps to comply with such rules.  

34. Further, the ALJ took into consideration the fact that the Commission has adopted the safety rules and the record-keeping rules for the protection of the traveling public.  It is necessary that passenger carriers adhere to these rules.  Finally, the ALJ took into account the type and seriousness of the violations alleged, particularly the failure of Respondent to use only medically examined and certified drivers.  These examinations aid in early discovery of health concerns that could endanger the public health and safety.  

As factors in mitigation, the ALJ took into consideration that Mr. Kinney is a sole proprietor and he attempted corrective action following issuance of the CPAN.  See Exhibits 10, 11, and 12.  There is some evidence that Respondent’s record-keeping, although not yet in compliance with the Commission’s regulations, may be improving.  While his mother’s failing health potentially deferred compliance attempts, Mr. Kinney had not complied in the years preceding her passing and there is no indication that he would have complied but for this short-term unavailability.  

The ALJ is concerned that the penalty imposed may exceed two years’ operating profits; however, Mr. Kinney failed to show any support whatsoever for his general estimation of profits to quantify mitigation.

35. The Commission performs an important health and safety function of guaranteeing that authorized transportation providers operate in a safe manner to protect the traveling public.  Mr. Kinney disregarded his responsibilities to this Commission and the traveling public.

36. The total maximum civil penalty for Counts 1, 2, and 3 of CPAN No. 80395 is $2,700.00.  The ALJ finds that the maximum civil penalty achieves the following purposes underlying civil penalty assessments:  (a) deterring future violations, whether by other similarly situated carriers and by Respondent; (b) motivating Respondent to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punishing Respondent for its past illegal behavior.  In addition, assessing a civil penalty of a significant amount underscores the seriousness of the violations that occurred.  

37. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.  

IV. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Respondent, Daniel Kinney, doing business as Ambassador Tours is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of:  (a) $100.00 in connection with Count 1 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 80395; (b) $100.00 in connection with Count 2 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 80395; and (c) $2,500.00 in connection with Count 3 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 80395.  He shall pay the total assessed penalty of $2,700.00 within ten days of the effective date of this Order.

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


G. HARRIS ADAMS
________________________________

Administrative Law judge
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